CAI-GRIE CHAPTER BYLAWS

EIGHTH AMENDMENT AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF THE GREATER INLAND EMPIRE CHAPTER OF THE COMMUNITY ASSOCIATIONS INSTITUTE

ARTICLE I: NAME AND OFFICE

SECTION 1. NAME. The name of this organization shall be The Greater Inland Empire Chapter of the Community Associations Institute ("Chapter").

SECTION 2. INCORPORATION; REGISTERED OFFICE. The Chapter is a corporation, incorporated in the state of California and is a chapter of Community Associations Institute ("CAI"), located in the County of Riverside, State of California. The Board of Directors is granted full power and authority to change the principal office from one location to another in the County, or from one county to another. Any change shall be noted by the Secretary opposite this Article, but shall not be considered an amendment of the Bylaws.

ARTICLE II: DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS. The following capitalized term(s) shall have the meanings indicated:

- A. "At-Large Member" means a member of Community Associations Institute who falls within one of the classes of membership as defined in Article III, Section 3. In relation to positions on the Board of Directors and committees, at-large members may be from any membership class, and have the same role and responsibilities as all other members of the Board or committee
- B. "Board of Directors" means the Board of Directors of the Chapter and "Director" means a Member of the Board of Directors.
- C. "Board of Trustees" means the Board of Trustees of CAI and "Trustee" means a Member of CAI's Board of Trustees
- CAI's Bylaws" means the Bylaws of CAI as the name may be amended or replaced.
- E. "Community Association" means any incorporated or unincorporated association, trust or other entity comprised of the owners of interests in a residential, commercial, or industrial condominium, real estate cooperative, planned unit development or other real estate common interest community.
- F. "Company" shall mean a business incorporated according to the laws of a state, a limited liability corporation, a partnership, or other relationship of individuals providing services or products to others.
- G. "Member" means a Member of The Greater Inland Empire Chapter of CAI.
- H. "Member in Good Standing" means a member whose rights have not been suspended by the Chapter or CAI.

ARTICLE III: MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS. Applications for membership in CAI and within any class of membership of CAI shall be approved in accordance with the terms of CAI's Bylaws and such rules, procedures and limitations as may be established by the Board of Trustees. CAI shall have the right to determine the appropriate class of membership for any Member. Membership in CAI is as authorized by CAI. Members are automatically assigned to a CAI certified chapter in accordance with established chapter boundaries.

SECTION 2. CONFLICT OF INTEREST. All chapter board members and committee members shall comply with the conflict of interest policies adopted by the Board of Trustees and stricter policies as may be established by the Chapter.

SECTION 3. CLASSES OF MEMBERS. The membership of CAI shall consist of the following:

- A. Community Association Volunteers. All individuals residing in or owning a unit in a community association are eligible for membership as a Community Association Volunteer, including, without limitation, individuals living in community associations who have a volunteer role within their community association. Volunteer roles include, but are not limited to, being a member or officer of the governing body of the community association, participating on a volunteer committee or committees, acting as the newsletter editor for the community, or any other volunteer function sanctioned by the community association. An individual who meets the aforementioned criteria and also holds a membership as a Community Manager, Management Company CEO or Business Partner may hold an additional membership as a Community Association Volunteer, however, they may not serve in a CAI volunteer position under the Community Association Volunteer category. Community Association Volunteers will be considered as individual Members of CAI with voting rights. Community associations paying dues on behalf of a community association volunteer or volunteers shall own each such membership and shall be permitted to transfer each membership to another volunteer in the community association during the term of membership or upon renewal of the membership. Individuals paying dues with their personal funds shall be the only individual entitled to exercise the rights of membership and such membership shall not be transferable.
- B. Community Managers. This class of Members shall consist of professional managers of all types of association-governed communities including, but not limited to, condominium associations, town home associations, co-operative associations, homeowners associations, large-scale communities, and planned communities. All managers of association-governed communities fall within this class of Members, regardless of whether they are on-site managers, portfolio managers, large-scale managers, are employed by a management company or have any other employment relationship. Those persons who have previously served in one of the roles in the preceding sentence and serve in a capacity of managing other managers shall be a Member of this class. All community managers shall be treated as individual Members of CAI with voting rights. A management company or employer of a manager paying dues on behalf of a manager or managers shall own each such membership and shall be permitted to transfer each membership to another manager during the membership term, but only in the event the manager originally identified is no longer employed by the management company. Individuals purchasing a membership with their personal funds shall be the only individual entitled to exercise the rights of membership, and such membership shall not be transferable.
- C. Business Partners. This class of Members shall consist of professionals and other providers of products, services, support, and counsel to association-governed communities, including developers of such communities. This class of Members shall not include community association management companies or managers of association-governed communities. The company, partnership, corporation or other business entity shall designate an individual as a primary membership contact who will have voting rights for the entity and may transfer this designation to another individual during the membership term or upon renewal of the membership. All employees of a business partner member shall be Affiliate members and will be permitted to attend classes, functions, conferences, to purchase products and services at membership prices, and be elected or appointed to committees or the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE III: MEMBERSHIP CONTINUED

D. Management Companies. This class of Members shall consist of community association management companies. Each management company membership shall include an individual manager membership to be held by the CEO or equivalent of the management company. Whenever the term "CEO of a Management Company" is used in these Bylaws, it shall mean the CEO or equivalent of a management company. Management companies shall not transfer this manager membership to multiple managers during the course of the membership term for the purpose of obtaining membership pricing for managers who do not hold an individual manager membership. Employees of the management company, who are not employed to manage association-governed communities, may attend selected classes and functions at the membership price.

SECTION 4. RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES.

- A. Chapter Rights and Privileges. Each Member in good standing of the Chapter shall be entitled to cast one vote on any and all matters required to be voted upon by Members and shall have such other rights, privileges and responsibilities as the Board of Directors shall determine. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, and subject to eligibility requirements, each Member in good standing shall be eligible to serve on the Chapter Board of Directors and committees.
- B. CAI Rights and Privileges. Each Member in good standing of CAI shall be entitled to cast one vote on any and all matters required to be voted upon by Members and shall have such rights, privileges and responsibilities as the Board of Trustees shall determine. Except as otherwise provided in the CAI Bylaws, and subject to eligibility requirements, each Member in good standing shall be eliqible to serve on the CAI Board of Trustees, Membership Representation Groups, and committees.

SECTION 5. SUSPENSION FOR NONPAYMENT. The Chapter may adopt reasonable policies to suspend certain membership rights and privileges resulting from nonpayment of amounts due and owing to the Chapter or CAI.

ARTICLE IV: ANNUAL DUES

The Board of Trustees shall determine the amount of annual dues, fees, and other assessments to be paid to CAI by each class of Members. Unless terminated, each membership shall continue automatically from year to year, with annual dues, fees, and other assessments payable by each Member on or before such date as shall be determined by the Board of Trustees. Unless otherwise directed by the Board of Trustees, all annual dues, fees, and other assessments shall be paid to CAI in advance of the 12-month period to which they relate. The Board of Trustees may impose such other fees and charges as it deems proper and may waive or modify the requirement to pay dues, fees or charges for particular Members.

ARTICLE V: MEETING OF MEMBERS

SECTION 1. ANNUAL MEETING. There shall be an annual meeting of Members of the Chapter in the fourth quarter of each year for the transaction of such business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof. The annual meeting shall be held at such time and place as the Board of Directors may determine subject to the following: The meeting must be held in sufficient time for selection of a President-Elect who can attend the designated national meeting for President-Elect training of CAI. Written notice of such meeting stating the date, time and place of such meeting shall be sent to each Member, at the last address shown on the Chapter's records, at least 15 days before the date of the meeting, or as provided by state law.

SECTION 2. SPECIAL MEETINGS. Special meetings of the Members may be called only by the Board of Directors or otherwise in accordance with applicable law. A special meeting shall be held at such time and place as the Board of Directors may determine. Written notice of any special meeting stating the date, time, place and purpose of such meeting shall be sent to each Member, at the last address shown on the Chapter's records, at least 15 days before the date of the meeting, or as provided by state law.

SECTION 3. NOTICES. Unless otherwise prohibited in these Bylaws or by state law, all notices and other communications required by these Bylaws or state law shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered by:

- A. Personal delivery to the addressee; or
- B. United States mail, first class, postage prepaid; or
- C. Any means permitted by law, including via electronic mail.

SECTION 4. QUORUM. A quorum for any meeting of the Members shall be ten percent (10%) of the voting membership, either in person or by proxy. If a quorum is not reached at the initial meeting date, the meeting may be adjourned for lack of quorum to a new date not less than two (2) and not more than forty-five (45) days later. The quorum shall remain ten percent (10%) of the voting membership at the adjourned meeting and continue until reached. Notice need not be given of an adjourned meeting held pursuant to this provision. At any duly-called meeting of the Members at which a quorum is present, the act of a majority of the Members present in person or by proxy shall be the act of the Members on any matter, except where the act of a greater number of Members is required by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. If a quorum is not present at any duly-called meeting of the Members, a majority of the Members present may adjourn the meeting, without further notice, until a quorum is present.

SECTION 5. VOTING AND PROXIES. Voting on all matters may be conducted by mail, electronic mail, or any other means of electronic or telephonic transmission; provided, that the Member shall state, or submit information from which it can be determined, that the method of voting chosen was authorized by the Member. A Member entitled to vote may authorize, in writing, another person to act for such Member by proxy. The writing may be executed by the Member or the Member's authorized officer, director, employee, or agent signing the writing, or causing the person's signature to be affixed to the writing, by any reasonable means, including a facsimile signature. No proxy shall be valid after 11 months, unless otherwise provided in the proxy.

SECTION 6. ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS. Whenever these Bylaws require that a document, record or instrument be "written" or "in writing," the requirement is deemed satisfied by an electronic record. Whenever these Bylaws require a signature on a document, record or instrument, an electronic signature satisfies that requirement only if: (a) the electronic signature is easily recognizable as a secure electronic signature which is capable of verification, under the sole control of the signatory, and attached to the electronic document in such a way that the document cannot be modified without invalidating the signature; or (b) the Board of Directors reasonably believes that the signatory affixed the electronic signature with the intent to sign the electronic document, and that the electronic document has not been modified since the signature was affixed. The Board of Directors may require reasonable verification of any electronic signature, document, record or instrument. Absent or pending verification, the Board may refuse to accept any electronic signature or electronic record that, in the Board's sole discretion, is not clearly authentic. Neither the Board of Directors nor the Chapter shall be liable to any Member for accepting or acting in reliance upon an electronic signature or electronic record that the Board reasonably believes to be authentic, or rejecting any such item which the Board reasonably believes not to be authentic. Any Member who negligently, recklessly or intentionally submits any falsified electronic record or unauthorized electronic signature shall fully indemnify the Chapter for actual damages, reasonable attorneys' fees actually incurred and expenses incurred as a result of such acts.

ARTICLE V: MEETING OF MEMBERS CONTINUED

SECTION 7. ORDER AND CONDUCT OF BUSINESS. The President shall establish the agenda for, and preside at, and the Secretary shall keep the minutes of, all membership meetings. The Board of Directors may establish rules of conduct and the order of business for all membership meetings. When not in conflict with these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation or meeting procedures adopted by the Board of Directors, Robert's Rules of Order (latest edition) shall govern all membership meetings. The Board may order the removal of anyone attending a membership meeting who, in the opinion of the Board, disrupts the conduct of the business at such a meeting. The use of Roberts Rules of Order may be partially or wholly suspended by majority vote of the Members. In the event of any dispute concerning the meaning of any meeting rules, including Robert's Rules, the decision of the President, who may consult with counsel, shall be final and binding.

ARTICLE VI: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SECTION 1. POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. The Board of Directors shall have supervision, control, and direction of the affairs and property of the Chapter, shall determine the policies of the Chapter, shall actively pursue the purposes and objectives of the Chapter and CAI, shall ensure that the Chapter and its Bylaws comply with the policies and procedures of CAI, and shall have discretion in the use and disbursement of Chapter funds. The Board of Directors may adopt such rules, regulations and procedures for the conduct of its business, for the execution of its powers, for the implementation of these Bylaws and for the fulfillment of the purposes and objectives of the Chapter and CAI as it shall deem necessary or advisable.

SECTION 2 COMPOSITION AND TERM OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

- A. The Board of Directors shall be composed of the number of Directors as determined by the Members, but in no event shall be fewer than five (5) or more than eleven (11) Directors. Up to two people from any company or association may be allowed to serve, at the time of election, if it is deemed they work out of separate offices or in distinct differing regions.
- B. Composition: The Board of Directors must represent all membership classes as determined by the Board of Trustees as follows:
 - Eleven (11) Directors, which shall include:
 - Two (2) Homeowner Leaders
 - Two (2) Community Association Managers
 - Two (2) Business Partners
 - Five (5) At-Large Members

Transition: The Chapter is currently (2017) composed of 15 Directors. The Chapter will reduce two (2) Directors at the 2017 election by not electing a Director to fulfill a vacant seat and by not re-electing a Director whose six (6) year term has expired. Additionally, the Chapter will reduce two (2) more Directors at the 2019 election by not electing Directors who have also reached their six (6) year term limits. The two (2) 2019 reductions may take place sooner through the process of attrition should a Director reach the end of their first three (3) year term and not elect to run again. At that time the Board of Directors shall declare that vacant seat as one (1), or possibly two (2) of the required reduction seats. The reduction in Directors must, at all times comply with the membership class requirements set forth in these Bylaws.

Composition: The composition of At-Large seats on the Board of Directors shall not provide any one membership class with more than fifty percent (50%) of the seats on the Board of Directors. In the event that a Director's class of membership changes during their term of service, they shall complete the remainder of the current election year, so long as the makeup of the Board is not compromised, in which case their slot will be automatically forfeited. Any subsequent Board service must be in a position designated for their then class of membership.

SECTION 3. TERM OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. Each Director shall serve for a term of three (3) years or until their successor has been appointed. Board of Directors terms shall be staggered so that the terms of not more than one-third of the Directors expire each year. A Member may serve on the Board of Directors for a total of six (6) years. After a Member has served for six (6) years, they may not serve again for three years. At that time, they begin the process of accumulating their six (6) years again. An individual who has served more than one-half of a full term shall be deemed to have served a full term. In the event an individual serves less than a full year on the Board, it shall be considered one full year of service.

SECTION 4. NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS.

- A. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, each Member in good standing shall be eligible for nomination to serve as a Director.
- B. The Nominating Committee shall solicit candidates for open Director positions by communicating with the membership no later than 75 days prior to the Director Election date and in such manner and with such frequency as the Nominating Committee deems appropriate and in accordance with these Bylaws and such rules and procedures as may be established by the Board of Directors.
- C. Not less than forty-five (45) days before the date set for the annual meeting, the Nominating Committee shall present to the entire Board of Directors for approval the recommended slate of nominees for the Board of Directors to be voted on at said annual meeting.
- D. The Executive Director shall prepare a ballot of qualified candidates, which shall be distributed to eligible voting members at least 30 days before the Director Election Date. The election may take place via paper ballot, internet election or in any manner allowed by state law. Persons receiving the highest number of votes shall be elected; in the event of a tie, the chapter board will vote to break the tie.

All election results are subject to the composition requirements above.

SECTION 5. MEETINGS. The Board of Directors shall hold a minimum of one (1) meeting quarterly at such time and place as the Board of Directors may determine. In addition, special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President or upon the written request of one-third (1/3) of the Directors or upon the written request of the Executive Director, at such time and place as the President, or President-Elect, as the case may be, may designate. Any or all Directors may participate in duly called meetings of the Board of Directors by means of conference telephone or by any means of communication by which all persons participating in the meeting are able to hear one another, and such participation shall constitute presence in person at a meeting. Notice of meetings of the Board of Directors may be given orally or in writing and shall be given to each member of the Board of Directors at least 72 hours before the time appointed for the meeting, except in an emergency, when notice should be given at least twenty-four (24) hours, where practicable, before the time appointed for the meeting. Such notice may be waived in accordance with applicable law. All Board meetings held in person shall be open to all Chapter members, but members other than Directors may not participate in any discussion or deliberation unless expressly authorized by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may meet and in executive session to discuss and vote upon personnel matters, litigation in which CAI is or may become involved, contract negotiations, matters that, in the exercise of the Board's reasonable discretion, require personal privacy, or other matters that require confidentiality. The nature of any and all business considered in executive session shall be announced in open session.

ARTICLE VI: BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

SECTION 6. WAIVER OF NOTICE. Whenever notice is required to be given to any Director under these Bylaws, a written waiver thereof, signed by the Director or Directors entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be equivalent to the giving of such notice. Presence without objection also waives notice.

SECTION 7. ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT IN LIEU OF A MEETING. Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if a written consent setting forth the action so taken shall be signed by all members of the Board of Directors or of such committee, as the case may be, and such written consent shall have the same force and effect as a vote at a meeting of the Board of Directors or at a meeting of such committee, as the case may be. All such action shall be reported at the next duly noticed meeting of the Board of Directors and such written consent or consents shall be filed with the minutes and proceedings of the Board.

SECTION 8. QUORUM; ACTS OF THE BOARD. One third or more of the Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any duly called meeting of the Board of Directors. At any duly called meeting of the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present, the act of a majority of the Directors present and voting shall be the act of the Board of Directions on any matter, except with respect to public policy issues or where the act of a greater number of Directors is required by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. If a quorum is not present at any duly called meeting of the Board of Directors, a majority of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting, without further notice, until a quorum is present.

SECTION 9. VOTES ON MATTERS RELATED TO PUBLIC POLICY. All matters involving a public policy position of the Chapter must be adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of those Directors present and voting at a duly called meeting of the Board of Directors, a quorum being present, and must not be inconsistent with the policies, goals and objectives of CAI.

SECTION 10. RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL. In addition to the Director qualifications prescribed by law, by CAI, or these Bylaws, each Director must meet the following qualifications throughout their term:

- A. The Director must not miss more than two (2) consecutive Board meetings
- B. The Director must not miss more than thirty percent (30%) of all Board meetings in any particular calendar year.
- C. The Director must attend fifty percent (50%) of all Chapter events and programs.
- D. The Director must pay within forty-five (45) days any outstanding receivables due the Chapter, after receiving a request to do so, in writing, from the Chapter

Any Director may resign by presenting a written resignation to the President or Secretary, and such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if no time is specified, at the time of acceptance thereof by the President. Any Director unable to attend a duly called meeting of the Board of Directors shall advise the President as to the reason for the absence. If a Director has two consecutive absences from duly called meetings of the Board of Directors without the Board excusing such absences, such Director shall be deemed to have resigned as a Director. However, the Board of Directors, in its discretion, may waive this provision. A Director may be removed from office, with or without cause, by a majority vote of the Board; provided, however, that such Director shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard, either orally or in writing, prior to any such action.

SECTION 11. VACANCIES. Any vacancy occurring on the Board of Directors may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the then members of the Board of Directors, including if the remaining Directors constitute fewer members than required to achieve a quorum. Any Director elected to fill a vacancy shall serve the remainder of the unexpired term of their predecessor in office.

SECTION 12. REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES.

No Director shall be compensated for serving as a Director. However, the Board of Directors may reimburse any Director for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred as budgeted and authorized by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 13. SPECIFIC POWERS OF THE BOARD Without prejudice to the general powers set forth in Article VI, Section 1 of these Bylaws, but subject to the same limitations, the Directors, in accordance with the Bylaws of CAI and this Chapter, shall have the power and duty to:

- A. Purchase a Directors' and Officers' Liability insurance policy with minimum policy limits of two million dollars (\$2,000,000.00). Said policy shall include coverage for past directors and past and present committee members, to the extent such coverage is available at a reasonable cost to the Chapter.
- B. Purchase a Workers Compensation policy.
- C. Purchase Fidelity/Crime/Employee Dishonesty coverage at a minimum of what was in the total of all CAI-GRIE Chapter bank accounts as of January 31 of that year plus 20% of that total.
- D. Purchase General Liability coverage with a minimum of one million dollars (\$1,000,000) per occurrence and two million dollars (\$2,000,000) aggregate.
- E. Purchase Property insurance covering all CAI-GRIE Chapter office property with Replacement Cost valuation.
- F. Purchase an Inland Marine policy covering all CAI-GRIE-owned property that leaves the office on CAI-GRIE Chapter business.
- G. Purchase Employer's Practices Liability Insurance (EPLI) with respect to any Chapter employees.

ARTICLE VII: OFFICERS

SECTION 1. OFFICERS. The elected officers of the Chapter shall be a President, a President-Elect, a Treasurer and a Secretary. The Board of Directors may appoint such other officers as the Board may deem necessary or advisable. Options may include a Vice President and Immediate Past President.

SECTION 2. QUALIFICATIONS, ELECTION AND TERM OF OFFICE. The officers of the Chapter, with the exception of the President, shall be elected from among the Directors each year by the Board of Directors by a majority vote of the Board. Each officer shall serve for a term of one year or until a successor has taken office. The President-Elect shall serve for one (1) year and directly following the conclusion of that year of service shall serve as President for one (1) year.

ARTICLE VII: OFFICERS CONTINUED

In the event a member of the Board is elected to serve as President-Elect during the last year of their term on the Board, that individual will automatically be granted one (1) additional year to serve as President, and the number of directors elected by the members in that annual election shall be reduced accordingly. In the case of a person who serves as President-Elect in their sixth year on the Board, they will be permitted to serve seven (7) years to complete their term as President. The granting of an additional year to the incoming president will create a partial term in the subsequent election. That partial term shall be filled in the subsequent election by the successful candidate receiving the least number of votes.

No more than two individuals from the same membership class, may serve as officers of the Chapter at the same time.

SECTION 3. REMOVAL. Any officer may be removed by a two-thirds (2/3) affirmative vote, or as allowed by state law, of the entire Board of Directors if, in the judgment of the Board, the best interests of the Chapter would be served by such removal; provided, however, that such officer shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard, either in person or in writing, prior to such action.

SECTION 4. VACANCIES. Vacancies in any office, with the exception of President, may be filled for the balance of the unexpired term by the Board of Directors at any meeting of the Board in accordance with such rules and procedures as may be established by the Board. In the event of a vacancy in the office of President, the President-Elect shall act as President for the remainder of the unexpired term of office of their predecessor in such office and shall succeed to such office upon the expiration of such term. In the event the President-Elect cannot or will not agree to serve the unexpired term of their predecessor in office, the Board of Directors shall elect from its members a person to serve as President for the unexpired term.

SECTION 5. PRESIDENT. The President shall be the chief elected officer of the Chapter, shall be a Member of the Executive Committee and shall preside at all meetings of the Members, the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee. Unless otherwise provided in these Bylaws or directed by the Board of Directors, the President, subject to the approval of the Board, shall appoint all committees. The President shall have the authority to represent the Chapter and act in its name in accordance with declared policies of the Chapter and CAI. The President shall communicate to the Members of the Chapter and to the Board of Directors such matters and make suggestions as may tend to promote and further the purposes and objectives of the Chapter and CAI, and the President shall perform such other duties as are necessary or incident to the office of President or as may be assigned by the Board of Directors or required by law. The President shall be responsible for satisfying the directives of the Board of Directors.

SECTION 6. PRESIDENT-ELECT. The President-Elect shall perform the duties of the President in their absence or in the event of resignation, removal or inability or refusal to act. The President-Elect, when so acting, shall have all the powers and responsibilities of the position of President. The President-Elect shall also perform such other duties as may be assigned by the President or the Board of Directors, or required by law.

SECTION 7. VICE PRESIDENT. The Vice President shall perform the duties of the President-Elect in the President-Elect's absence or in the event of resignation, removal or inability or refusal to act of the President-Elect. The Vice President, when so acting, shall have all the power and responsibility of the President-Elect. The Vice President shall also perform such other duties as may be assigned by the President or the Board of Directors. The Vice President shall not succeed to the presidency unless so determined by a majority vote of the Board.

SECTION 8. TREASURER. The Treasurer shall be the custodian of Chapter funds and securities, shall oversee the establishment of proper accounting procedures for the handling of the Chapter's funds, shall be the disbursing officer for the Chapter and shall report on the financial condition of the Chapter at all meetings of the Board of Directors and at other times as called upon by the President of the Chapter. The Treasurer shall perform all other duties incident to the office of Treasurer.

SECTION 9. SECRETARY. The duties and authority of the Secretary shall include, but not be limited to, accountability for the accuracy of Board documents such as minutes of all meetings and all notices given in accordance with these Bylaws.

SECTION 10. IMMEDIATE PAST PRESIDENT. The Immediate Past President supports and advises the President, President-Elect and Board of Directors and shall perform such other duties as may be assigned to him by the President or the Board of Directors, the Bylaws or as required by law. The Immediate Past President shall be a non-voting member of the Executive Committee.

SECTION 11. CHAPTER STAFF. The Board of Directors may appoint or employ an Executive Director to manage the operations of the Chapter within the authority delegated by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 12. SALARIES; REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES. No elected Officer of the Chapter shall be compensated for serving as an Officer. Officers may be reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them in performing their duties as Officers, as budgeted and authorized by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VIII: COMMITTEES

SECTION 1. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE.

- A. Unless otherwise directed by the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors shall be composed of the President, the Treasurer and the Secretary. No more than fifty percent (50%) of the Executive Committee may be from any single membership class. The Executive Committee shall have and exercise all of the authority of the Board of Directors, including all actions specified in these Bylaws as actions to be taken by the Board of Directors where it is necessary or desirable to do so between meetings of the Board of Directors, except that the Executive Committee shall not have the authority to: (1) amend, alter or repeal these Bylaws, (2) elect, appoint or remove any Director or Officer of the Chapter, (3) adopt a resolution proposing an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation, (4) adopt a plan of merger or consolidation with another corporation, (5) acquire or authorize the sale, lease, exchange or mortgage of any real property of the Chapter, (6) authorize the sale, lease, exchange or mortgage of all or substantially all of the personal property and assets of the Chapter, (7) authorize or institute proceedings for the voluntary dissolution of the Chapter, (8) adopt a plan for the distribution of the assets of the Chapter or (9) amend, alter or repeal any resolution of the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee shall act by vote of a simple majority of the Executive Committee on any matter. The Executive Committee shall provide a report of its actions to the Board of Directors whenever so required. The President shall serve as the chairperson of the Executive Committee.
- B. The Executive Committee is authorized to receive, hold, invest, manage, allocate and apply on behalf of the Chapter and in the furtherance of its purposes and objectives, all income received by the Chapter and all real and personal property received or owned by the Chapter. The Executive Committee shall, in accordance with such procedures as may be established by the Board of Directors, recommend a budget to the Board of Directors for each fiscal year.

ARTICLE VIII: COMMITTEES CONTINUED

SECTION 2. NOMINATING COMMITTEE. Each year the Executive Committee shall designate a Nominating Committee that shall consist of the Immediate Past President of the Chapter, the President-Elect and at least three other Members of the Chapter who are not elected officers of the Chapter and who are not running for election. In the event the Immediate Past President is running for re-election, he shall not serve on the Nominating Committee, and the Executive Committee shall appoint a Member of the Chapter to serve in their place. At least one member of the Nominating Committee shall be a Community Association Volunteer and no more than two (2) members of the Nominating Committee may be from the same membership class. Unless otherwise directed by the Executive Committee, the Immediate Past President of the Chapter shall serve as chairman of the Nominating Committee.

SECTION 3. LEGISLATIVE ACTION COMMITTEES. The Board of Directors shall appoint delegates to the California Legislative Action Committee in accordance with the Legislative Action Committee Operational Guidelines approved by the CAI Board of Trustees. The appointed delegates shall provide a report to the Chapter Board of Directors regularly.

SECTION 4. OTHER COMMITTEES. Unless otherwise provided in these Bylaws or directed by the Board of Directors, the President shall appoint Members to serve on such other standing or special committees, subcommittees, task forces or boards as may be required by these Bylaws or as may be deemed necessary or appropriate by the President.

SECTION 5. REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES. Members of the Executive Committee may be reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them in performing their duties as members of the Executive Committee, as budgeted and authorized by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE IX: LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY; INDEMNIFICATION

SECTION 1. LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY. Any person who serves as an officer, director, trustee, or other person who performs services for the corporation and who does not receive compensation, other than reimbursement of expenses, for those services shall be immune from civil liability except where the injury or damage was a result of:

- A. Gross negligence or willful misconduct;
- B. A crime, unless the person had reasonable cause to believe that the act was lawful;
- C. A transaction that resulted in an improper personal benefit of money, property, or service to the person; or
- D. An act or omission that is not in good faith and is beyond the scope of authority of the corporation pursuant to law or the corporate charter.

SECTION 2. INDEMNIFICATION. The directors, officers, committee members, employees, and other volunteers of the Chapter shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Chapter from and against any and all expenses (including attorneys' fees and disbursements) and claims for liability arising in connection with their positions or activities on behalf of the Chapter to the full extent permitted by law.

ARTICLE X: MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 1. FISCAL YEAR. The fiscal year of the Chapter shall be determined by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 2. CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DRAFTS, ETC. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, all contracts and all checks, drafts, notes, acceptances, endorsements and other evidences of indebtedness may be executed on behalf of the Chapter only by the President, the Executive Director or such other officers and agents of the Chapter as the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee may authorize.

SECTION 3. LOANS. No loans shall be made or obtained on behalf of the Chapter, and no negotiable instruments other than checks shall be issued in its name, unless and except as authorized by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 4. DEPOSITS. Unless otherwise directed by the Board of Directors, all funds of the Chapter shall be deposited in such depositories as the Executive Committee may select.

SECTION 5. PROCEDURES. All meetings of the Members, the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee shall be governed by the rules set forth in the latest edition of Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised, as long as such rules are not in conflict with these Bylaws or with rules and procedures established by the Board or the Executive Committee. By majority vote, the Board of Directors may vote to suspend Robert's Rules of Order.

SECTION 6. USE OF FUNDS AND DISSOLUTION. The Chapter shall use its funds only to accomplish its stated purpose and objectives. Upon dissolution of the Chapter, all of its assets shall be distributed to CAI, or its successor.

SECTION 7. LOSS OF CHARTER. This chapter may be decertified by a vote of the Board of Trustees, as provided in the policies and procedures of CAI. In such event, the Chapter agrees to be bound by the CAI policies.

SECTION 8. WAIVER OF NOTICE. Whenever any notice is required to be given under applicable law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, a waiver of such notice in writing signed by the person entitled to such notice, whether such waiver is signed before or after the time for notice has expired, shall be deemed the equivalent of the giving of such notice.

SECTION 9. TRANSITIONAL PROCEDURES. Any and all actions taken pursuant to the Bylaws of the Chapter in effect prior to the date of adoption hereof shall remain in full force and effect unless and until expressly changed or revoked pursuant hereto.

SECTION 10. RULES OF CONSTRUCTION. The following rules of construction shall apply to the interpretation of these Bylaws:

A. The captions and headings contained in these Bylaws are for convenience of reference only and shall not be construed as a limitation on the scope of any particular article, section or subsection of these Bylaws. The captions may not be used in interpreting the meaning of any article, section or subsection of these Bylaws.

ARTICLE X: MISCELLANEOUS CONTINUED

- B. Wherever these Bylaws grant the authority to act or exercise any right or privilege by the Board of Directors, its officers, the Chapter Executive Director or any person referred to in these Bylaws (the "Authorized Party"), there shall be no limitation on the number of times the Authorized Party may exercise the authority, right or privilege granted, unless these Bylaws expressly provide otherwise.
- C. Wherever these Bylaws use the word "including," it shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation," unless expressly stated to the contrary.
- D. If any time period or deadline stated in these Bylaws falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, the time period or deadline shall be extended until the next business day.

ARTICLE XI: AMENDMENTS

Subject to the restrictions set forth in California Corporations Code Section 7150(a), these Bylaws may be amended, repealed or altered, in whole or in part, by two-thirds (b) affirmative vote of the Board of Directors at a duly-noticed meeting of the Board. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, an amendment of the Bylaws changing the number of Directors must be adopted by the membership as specified in California Corporations Code Section 7151(b). Alternatively, and these Bylaws may be amended, repealed or altered, in whole or in part, by two-thirds (b) affirmative vote of those members present, in person or by proxy, at any duly-noticed meeting of the Chapter at which a quorum is present, provided that a copy of any proposed change shall have been provided to each Chapter Member at least fifteen (15) days prior to such meeting.

Adopted by vote of the members September 2018. Revised by the Board of Directors December 2019.